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Lanark Place, Abernethy, Saskatchewan 

Structural History 

By William Naftel, 

August, 1969 



INTRODUCTION 

The farm home of William Richard Motherwell at Abernethy, 

Saskatchewan is, in its outward appearance, a modified form of the 

Tuscan or Italian villa fashionable in eastern North America in the 

1850's and 1860's, and adopted about the same time, but to a lesser 

extent, for middle class domestic architecture in England, American 

antecedents commonly made use of the hip roofed style, topped with a 

deck or "widow's walk", usually but not always surmounted by a cupola. 

The roof invariably has wide eaves supported by ornamental paired brackets 

at varying intervals, and these brackets are usually repeated on porches, 

bays or whatever contemporary additions might be made to the basic 

structure , 

The design was not uncommon in Ontario at the time, though it 

never reached anything like the popularity of the ubiquitous gothicized 

version of the basic Georgian house. This design was simply the plain 

Georgian rectangle given a picturesque outline by the addition of a 

sharply peaked gable over the entrance, which then became a vehicle for 

a variety of interesting and inventive examples of the carpenter's art. 

The Italian style used at Lanark Place was, if we are to follow the 

theses advanced in the 1850's by Gervase wheeler , and the 1960's by 

Alan Gowans , more peculiarly suited to the American temperament as it had 

none of the mediaeval and aristocratic connotations of the gothic revival. 

This last came to be considered as virtually the English national 
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style, implying as it did ideas of tradition and evolution as opposed 

to republicanism and revolution. On the other hand, the Italian style 

could be compared with the Greek Revival and Federal buildings popular 

in the early years of the United States and hence linked with all sorts 

of anti-monarchical virtues. At the same time, the fact that it had no 

real basis in the history of architecture freed it from the rigid 

classifications that overtook the Greek, Roman and gothic styles. It 

thus became possible to indulge to the full a taste for the picturesque 

without fear of encountering any rebuke from the scholarly. 

Bellevue House in Kingston is an example of the Italian villa in 

full fig in an Ontario setting and it is possible to find others 

throughout the province equally exuberant, though not with the frequency 

that they occur throughout the eastern United States, particularly in 

northern New York and the mid-west. 

The more conservative center hallway version similar to that adopted 

by Mr. Motherwell appears in the 1850's . It has not been 

possible to ascertain whether Lanark Place is in any way modelled on a 

particular house in Perth or the neighbouring counties which may have 

caught his eye during his youth. Nevertheless there are certainly stylistic 

resemblances with a number of homes throughout the province. Forest Home 

in Pembroke (fig. l) erected sometime before 1880 is a good example of the 

style in the Lanark-Renfrew area. Closer yet to home, the Henderson 
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residence, Drummond Street, Perth, erected in 1878 is a possible model, 

although there are certain very definite differences. A closer resemblance, 

but at a further distance is a house located in Erin Township, Wellington 

County , interesting not only because of structural similarities, but 

also because it is a contemporary in time, while an equally close 

resemblance is found in an elegant villa erected in Ottawa about 1871 . 

Another possible model is a much less ambitious type than any of the 

foregoing, but far more common in that it was often used for farmhouses. 

An example is shown which is located on a sideroad near Roslin, Hastings County, 

Ont (f.<̂ . 2.). On the exterior at least, this house bears a great similarity 

to the plan used by Mr. Motherwell. To this structure one could apply the 

elaborate trim used at Lanark Place and come up with a near twin. Note 

should also be made of the family homestead in Bathurst Township, near 

Perth. While the present house is a modern reconstruction, it may 

have been built on the old foundations in which case there are also certain 

similarities. 

If one accepts the thesis that Lanark Place is inspired by the 

Italianate villas of the 1860*s, the design was to a certain degree an 

anachronism by the time it was built in 1897. Nonetheless there are 

about it certain very definite characteristics that mark it as a product 

of its time. The most obvious of these is the ornamental woodwork of the 

front porch, the gable of the kitchen, or rear, wing and over the dormer 

windows, as well as the iron cresting of the roof. The very fact that 

two disparate styles — the Italianate and the "gingerbread" have been 

combined is in fact equally characteristic of the architecture of the 

period, albeit Lanark Place is rather an unique blend for a domestic residence. 
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The most striking feature of the house is the front porch, notable 

for the elaboration of its woodwork. Its function would appear to be 

almost entirely decorative as its small size would seem to make it 

impractical for sitting out. Nothing is known of the carpenter who 

assembled it. It may have been made locally, or it may have been put 

together from stock items ordered from some mail order or lumber supply 

house . The sunray motif was not uncommon for gables, though 

Lanark Place is particularly elaborate in this respect. 

The kitchen wing does not match the Italianate character of the 

main house but follows the routine pattern for such an addition. Where it 

might differ from the normal format is in the fretwork over the gable which 

could be considered elaborate for a part of the house devoted to the 

kitchen and quarters for the hired hands. 

A third feature common to the period was the ornamental ironwork on 

the roof. It was probably ordered by the yard from some catalogue, but 

nothing is known of the maker. It is possible, although there is no 

evidence for it, that it might have been made in the district, as the firm 

of Messrs J. McCurdy of Moosomin was producing decorative iron work at 

this time having produced the ornamental iron supports for Mr. J. Hasting's 

2a 
new store built in 1897 in Indian Head. 

To fit Lanark Place into the context of its surroundings, it is 

worth digressing to point out that there are in the neighbourhood other 

equally substantial homes, most of which follow the "standard" Ontario 

rural style , and the village of Abernethy contains some interesting 

houses with clearly eastern antecedents, including ©^e 

complete with belvedere • 
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The conclusion to be drawn from this is that those who homesteaded 

this area in the 1880's, largely from Protestant rural Ontario, brought 

with them a strong Ontario tradition. Because of the homogeneity of 

the settlement, the tradition survived and was much more immune to the 

development of a prairie vernacular architecture •— and was perhaps less 

open minded on the subject. The result was, with the ending of the 

pioneer period in the mid-1890's, the houses that began to dot the 

Pheasant Hills district echoed those in the settled areas of rural 

Ontario from which their builders had emigrated. Later waves of immigrants 

had far less in common with each other, coming as they did from a variety 

of racial, religious and linguistic backgrounds. After 1896 there was 

far more a sense of moving to an existing community rather than transplanting 

an old one to an empty prairie. This is reflected in the neutral and 

undistinguished buildings erected in the settlements of later years 

(admittedly it also reflects the fact that the settlers of the 1880's got 

much of the best land and could afford to erect handsome houses). 

STRUCTURAL HISTORY 

Documentation for the actual construction of the buildings on the 

farmstead is sparse. Being the private dwelling of a private citizen in 

a pioneer community which did not (and does not) require descriptions of 

buildings for assessment purposes, it is doubtful if any particularly 

detailed records were ever kept. Nevertheless, plans and specifications 
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3 
of some kind were prepared and placed on deposit at the end of April 1897 

with an Indian Head lumber dealer, James Conn, for the information of 

potential contractors. Previous to this another local firm, Fraser and 

Cameron, were noted as having received the contract for a house for 

Mr. Motherwell . This firm was an architectural as well as a building 

concern (see advertisement in col. 4 and 5, of Vidette illustrated) 

and it is possible that they had a contract to draw up plans as the above 

mentioned notice does not specifically state that they had a contract to 

build, and in fact they were not the firm who eventually did build the 

house. On the other hand, none of those familiar with the history of the 

house, including Mrs. Mackenzie, can recall any architect being consulted — 

5 
"It would have been too expensive." If this was the case, the house may 

have simply been the product of planning by Mr. and Mrs. Motherwell between 

1884 and 1897 based on an example or examples with which they were familiar 

in Ontario, or on some pattern book. 

THE PIONEER BUILDINGS - LOG CABIN 

W.R. Motherwell's first winter on his homestead, 1882-83 was, 

incredibly enough, spent in a tent. The coming of warm weather in 1883 

saw the erection of the first home, a log cabin measuring 18' x 24' (fiq.3). 

It faced south on the center of the eight acre plot selected for the 

farmstead. The logs used in its construction were obtained from trees 

found on the property and in the valley of Pheasant Creek and measured from 
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7 
four to six inches in diameter, the chinks being caulked. The cabin was 

roofed with sawn shingles, by 1890 if not from the beginning. Within the 

first few years after its building, possibly as early as 1884 when 

Mr. Motherwell married Adeline Rogers, clap board siding was put on, but 

remained unpainted as long as the house stood. 

Main Room 

The ground floor of the house was divided into three rooms, 

whitewashed rather than painted: a large room which served as living 

room, dining room and kitchen; and two bedrooms, the one slightly larger 

than the other. The floor was of softwood, presumably unfinished as 

Mrs. MacKenzie recalls that it splintered easily. A trap door in front of 

one of the bedroom doors gave access to a basement used for the storage 

9 
of potatoes and vegetables. An enclosed staircase in the northwest 

corner led to an attic, apparently unfinished, used for, among other 

things, hanging onions to dry. The door opening into the stairwell fitted 

flush with the wall but the first step protruded into the main room. This 

step was used as an extra seat, particularly by the children, who made 

good use of the fact that it was close to the stove. 

Beneath the enclosed stairwell was space for a pantry whose door 

also apparently fitted flush with the wall. 
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Main Room - Furnishings 

The furnishings of the room were, as befitted a homestead, plain. 

A four-legged box stove provided the heat for the entire house, as well 

as the cooking facilities; a table, three or four chairs (of which one 

survives in the possession of Mrs. A.D. MacKenzie) and a high backed 

rocker with a padded cushion draped over the back, completed most of the 

furnishings. The interior walls were whitewashed, not painted, while the 

windows had tied back muslin curtains and cotton blinds which were 

rolled up by hand and fastened at the top with a button. In the middle 

of the east wall were a number of coat hooks, and in the south-west corner, 

a corner cupboard. 

Bedrooms 

The two bedrooms were equally simple. The master bedroom at the 

front had, aside from the bed, a clothes closet consisting of little 

more than a curtain across the corner of the room. A cradle stood at 

the end of the bed so that the parents could keep an eye on the youngest. 

The other bedroom, slightly smaller, seems to have had little furniture 

other than a bed. 

The mattresses used in these beds, as well as in the big house later 

on, were straw-filled, and it was considered a great treat by the children 

to change the straw. 

9 
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Lean-To 

A door in the north wall of the main room led into the lean-to 

used presumably for the storage of wood, etc. At the west end was a 

cistern for collecting rain water from the roof. The water was carried 

into the house and kept in pails on a water bench in the main room. A 

rain barrel against the west wall of the house was an auxiliary source 

of supply. 

This homestead was vacated on completion of the stone residence, 

but survived for some years in an increasingly bad state of repair, 

until it was finally demolished by Mr. Motherwell because of the danger 

its dilapidated condition presented, particularly to the children. 

PIONEER BUILDINGS - LOG BARN 

At about the same time the log house was constructed, Mr. Motherwell 

erected a small log barn or stable. Little is known about this building 

and there was probably little to tell. It measured sixty by thirty feet 

and in 188° was valued by Mr. Motherwell at one hundred dollars 

THE MATURE FARMSTEAD - HOUSE 

In the early spring of 1897, a news item reported that Messrs Fraser 

and Cameron had contracted for the building of a house for Mr. Motherwell 

Fraser and Cameron did not in fact carry out the contract, this being done 
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by another Indian Head firm, P. Kerr. The possibility that Fraser 

and Cameron may have drawn up plans has been noted. Whatever was the 

case, in an advertisement dated 26 April, Mr. Motherwell called for tenders 

for a dwelling house, to be submitted by 13 May (originally given as 

$ May due to a misprint). Plans and specifications were available for 

inspection at the office of James Conn, local hardware and lumber 

dealer. 

Another digression is in order at this point to recall that these 

were boom years for the North-West, and the Indian Head district shared 

in them to the full. As early as April the Vidette had noted that new 

13 houses were all the rage at Abernethy . A land boom was adding new farms 

to the assessment role and increasing the demand for new buildings, so 

that by June there was a scarcity of stonemasons in the town and breaking 

the virgin soil and building were said to be the order of the day . At 

nearby Sintaluta Mr. W. Harvey was building a large stone stable and 

Mr. J.T. Partridge a frame house and stable. 

"Our farmer friends are just beginning to reap the 
reward of many years of patient toil, and soon log ,,. 
houses and stables will be a rarity in this vicinity." 

The activity continued apparently unabated through the year: 

"The building boom here [Abernethy] is apparently 
not at an end. Messers Dinnen and J. Stueck propose 
building brick houses; Mr. Wm. Foster, brick veneer. 
Mr. Dickinson will build kitchens and dwelling rooms 
on to his house; while Mr. Theobald will put up a 
stone residence and intends to reduce the outlay to 
a minimum by burning his own lime, drawing his own 
stones and doing his own masonry work."16 
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Whatever economists may have considered to be the reasons for the 

return of prosperity after so long an absence, there was no doubt locally 

as to the cause. It was the wheat crop of 1896. 

"The Abernethy, Saltoun, Kenlis, Balcarres, Wide Awake 
and immediate Indian Head districts have all had like 
experience. The buildings that have been erected in 
these districts have all been the result of the big 
crop of '98 [sic "96], and if it could give such a 
remarkable era of building, it only becomes a 
mathematical problem how great the building boom of 
1898 will be, as a result of the miles upon miles of 
flowing grain, almost all No. 1 hard, that was cut 
in the season of 197."1'^ 

The shortage of labour consequent upon all this building activity, 

led to a shortage of essential workers leading in turn to the importation 

of skilled men from other parts of the country to fill the vacuum. Two 

carpenters from Mount Forest, Ontario, set up shop in Abernethy, fully 

equipped with band saws, turning lathes, etc., necessary to make 

bracket, scroll and other ornamental finishings for a house. This, it 

was hoped, would help to reduce the high prices which had been brought 

18 
about by a near monopoly in this line of work. ' Two stonemasons brought 

in by Mr. James Morrison of Indian Head to work on his new stone house 

caused some local comment. Natives of Hamilton, the two men, 

Louis and John Bahrns, evidently produced work of a higher class than was 

common, at least in this area. Apparently the local field stone was not 

of a type which had hitherto justified a really good type of work, but 

the Bahrns brothers introduced what was known as "clockwork masonry" 
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(probably descriptive of its quality, rather than of a specific class of 

masonry according to information received from the University of Toronto 

School of Architecture) which impressed the Vidette sufficiently that it 

19 advised the local masons to get a hustle on if they were to keep pace. 

To return to Lanark Flace, it is not known how many people or who 

submitted tenders, but the end result was that Mr. Adam Cantelon, the 

mason who the previous year had erected a stable for Mr. Motherwell, 

undertook to do the stonework for the house. (Mr. Cantelon's relationship 

with the contractor, P. Kerr, is not clear, presumably he was employed by 

him arid not Mr. Motherwell). It has already been noted that no source for 

the plan and design has been positively located, but clearly the idea of 

a stone house had been in Mr. Motherwell's mind for a long time, as the 

field stone was collected gradually over a long period, dating from his 

homestead days. The stone came from fields in the neighbourhood and the 

Pheasant Creek coulee and including lots belonging to Tom Calder, 

20 
Fred Fvans, Jack Robbins and a Mr. Chipperfield, as well as his own. 

As it was collected it was deposited in a growing pile in the farmyard 

to await the time when it would be put to use. So much time and effort 

went into its collection that Mr. Motherwell was later to say that he 

knew the history of each stone that went into the wall. The work of 

construction was done by Mr. Motherwell and his hired help, including 

Mr. Andy Sproule, who recalls that the stones, after being split and 
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shaped by Mr. Cantelon, were raised into place by a block and tackle. 

Considerable care was exercised in placing each stone, their colour 

and size being carefully studied so that the final effect would be of 

an harmonious whole. 

By the beginning of August the walls had reached the second storey 

level, but at this point a minor tragedy occurred. While working at the 

top Mr. Cantelon fell, badly fracturing his leg. Though he later made a 

very good recovery, it was originally thought that he would lose his leg, 

and the incident made a deep impression on young Alma Motherwell who, 

seventy-one years later recalled: 

"We spoke of the tragedy in hushed whispers for he 
was highly respected, and his name was a household 
word."22 

Another who remembers the accident clearly is Mr. Sproule who had to 

ride as far as Indian Head (50 miles there and back) to fetch a doctor 

23 
to set the bone. So far as the house was concerned, the accident 

certainly must have caused some delay and in December it was still incomplete, 
pi 

though Mr. Motherwell was able to express his hopes of moving in "sometime". 

Actually it could not have been very long after this that it was finished, 

for on New Year's Day Mr. Motherwell gave a large dinner for some twenty-five 

couples, "... in the style and manner which reminded some of us of the 

25 
more formal gatherings of the old country." It seems unlikely that a 

dinner on this scale could have been given in the log house. Perhaps 
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it was something of a house warming although the reason given was that 

such a dinner on New Year's Day was a Presbyterian custom. 

One of the last parts of the house to be finished was the summer 

kitchen, and one might speculate that it was an afterthought as the 

masonry of this room was not keyed into the main structure. This might 

also be due in part to Mr. Cantelon's injury as it is Mrs. MacKenzie's 

recollection that the house was finished by another man. 

When completed, Lanark Place would have presented an impressive 

sight out on the prairie. The ironwork at the top was painted black, 

while the "gingerbread" on the eaves, the dormers, the porch, the wooden 

awnings and the gable of the kitchen wing was painted in red oxide and 

white as per the light and dark areas on the accompanying photograph 

( -Fvci. "t ), So far as the windows are concerned, the sash, on both the 

dormers and the other windows, was white, and the surrounding casement red. 

The fretwork over the dormers was white. From conversations with 

Mrs. MacKenzie it would appear that the house was never painted any other 

colour and it may well be that whatever colour remains represents the 

original and only coat of paint. 

There are no definite figures on the cost of the completed structure, 

but the contract with P. Kerr was for the amount of three thousand dollars, 

while in 1909 the insurance on it was renewed to the amount of two 

thousand dollars. 
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THF MATURE FARMSTEAD - HOUSE INTERIOR 

No detailed plans and only one photograph have been located showing 

the interior of the house before the renovations of the rooms of both 

the upstairs and downstairs both during and after the Second World War. 

The room for which the photograph exists appears in fact to have altered 

little over the past seventy years. 

Lobby 

The accompanying photograph (fî Sy'of Catherine Motherwell (the 

second wife) dates roughly about 1911 and gives an indication of the 

style of furnishings of that room and the finish of the woodwork at 

that time. The function of this room might be considered as analagous 

to that of the Hall in European domestic architecture in that it served 

as a center of "public" as well as private life in the house. Here was 

held the meeting which led to the formation of the Territorial Grain 

Growers Association, as well as other similar conferences. It served 

as an ante room to Mr. Motherwell's office and it had as a focal point 

a fireplace, one of the first, if not the first in the area. 

The main feature of the room, the fireplace, and mantle (SyC) may be 

of mail order origin as similar ones, varying in cost between forty and 

fifty dollars can be found in catalogues of the period. Its purpose was 

largely ornamental as it did not produce a great deal of heat and so was 
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really used only in the fall and the spring. During the winter a coal 

burning base burner was installed in front of the fireplace. A 

removable section of the mantlepiece woodwork gives 

access to a stovepipe hole connecting the baseburner to the fireplace 

chimney. This incidentally, was the only stove in the house (apart from 

the kitchen range) until 1943 when a Franklin stove was placed in the 

converted dining room which served as a sick room for Mr. Motherwell. 

Lobby - Furnishings 

Some idea of the furniture and ornamentation of this room c.1911 

can be gained from the photograph of Mrs. Motherwell. It will be noted 

that the windows did not have the louvred wooden shutters common to many 

contemporary rooms. The style of furnishings Mrs. MacKenzie characterizes 

as "library type". The thick stone walls make for deep window sills which 

might be used as seats or at times filled with geraniums. The over 

mantle, with its many shelves and ledges, provided room for knick-knacks 

such as stuffed animals, including an owl, pheasant and weasel, fancy 

earthenware, pitchers and vases. 

The walls were hung largely with personal or family pictures rather 

than prints and lithographs. On the north wall, under the rise of the 

stairs was a picture of the first Saskatchewan cabinet. At a much later 

date, after 1928, an oil portrait of Mr. Motherwell in the robes of an 

honourary Ll.D. of the University of Saskatchewan hung between the door 


